

Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development

A Comparative Experience

Monica Juarez Adeler

A research report prepared for the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite

Funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada



ENABLING POLICY ENVIRONMENTS FOR CO-OPERATIVE DEVELOPMENT



We acknowledge with gratitude the contributions
made to this project by our community partner
Supporting Employment and Economic Development Winnipeg, Inc.,
(SEED Winnipeg)
which provided both financial and in-kind support.

Without the participation of SEED Winnipeg, this research would not have been possible.



This paper is part of a collection of research reports prepared for the project Linking, Learning, Leveraging

Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities, the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

The project is managed by four regional partners — the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and the Community-University Institute for Social Research at the University of Saskatchewan, the Institute of Urban Studies at the University of Winnipeg, and the Community Economic and Social Development Unit at Algoma University College.

The project also includes more than fifty community-based organizations in four provinces, the United States, Colombia, and Belgium.

The community partner in this project is
Supporting Employment and Economic Development Winnipeg, Inc.

(SEED Winnipeg).

This particular research paper was administered by the Winnipeg Inner-City Research Alliance (WIRA) and its successor, the Institute of Urban Studies at the University of Winnipeg. The opinions of the author found herein do not necessarily reflect those of WIRA, the Institute of Urban Studies, SEED Winnipeg, the Linking, Learning, Leveraging project, or the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

Further acknowledgements are found on the copyright page.

ENABLING POLICY ENVIRONMENTS FOR CO-OPERATIVE DEVELOPMENT

A Comparative Experience

Monica Juarez Adeler



Copyright © 2009 Monica Juarez Adeler Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan Institute of Urban Studies, University of Winnipeg

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher. In the case of photocopying or other forms of reprographic reproduction, please consult Access Copyright, the Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency, at 1–800–893–5777.

Editing, design, and layout by Nora Russell Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

Printed in Canada by Printing Services Document Solutions University of Saskatchewan 09 10 11 / 5 4 3

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966-8509 / Fax: (306) 966-8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca / Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop

The author would like to acknowledge Cindy Coker (SEED Winnipeg), Brendan Reimer (CCEDNet), Chris Clamp (Southern New Hampshire University), Isobel Findlay (University of Saskatchewan), John Restakis (British Columbia Co-operative Association), Mattia Miani (Legacoop), Zorione Arregi (Mondragon Group), and Michel Clement (Ministère du Développement économique, de l'Innovation et de l'Exportation du Québec / Minister of Economic Development, Innovation and Export Trade of Quebec) for their contributions to this publication. She is also grateful for the in-kind support from the Canadian CED Network // Le Réseau canadien de DÉC, and financial and in-kind support from SEED Winnipeg, Inc., the University of Winnipeg, the Winnipeg Inner-City Research Alliance, and the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite, the latter two funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

Contents

| Introduction | 1 |
|--------------------------------------------|----|
| Research Overview | 2 |
| HISTORY AND ACHIEVEMENTS | 3 |
| Spain | 3 |
| Italy | 4 |
| Quebec | 5 |
| CO-OPERATIVE SUPPORT ORGANIZATIONS | 7 |
| Spain | 7 |
| Italy | 9 |
| Confederazione Cooperative Italiane | 9 |
| Lega Nazionale delle Cooperative e Mutue | 10 |
| Other Co-operative Infrastructure in Italy | 11 |
| Quebec | 12 |
| Public Policy and Financing | 13 |
| Spain | 13 |
| Italy | 14 |
| Quebec | 15 |
| CO-OP POLICY IN MANITOBA | 17 |
| Conclusion | 19 |
| POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS | 21 |
| References | 23 |
| LIST OF CENTRE PUBLICATIONS | 27 |

CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES

THE CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES is an interdisciplinary teaching and research institution located on the University of Saskatchewan campus in Saskatoon. Contract partners in the co-operative sector include Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan, Federated Co-operatives Ltd., Concentra Financial, and The Co-operators. The centre is also supported by the Saskatchewan Ministry of Enterprise and Innovation and the University of Saskatchewan. The university not only houses our offices but provides in-kind contributions from a number of departments and units — Bioresource Policy, Business, and Economics, Management and Marketing, and Sociology, among others — as well as financial assistance with operations and nonsalary expenditures. We acknowledge with gratitude the ongoing support of all our sponsoring organizations.

The objectives of the centre are:

- to develop and offer university courses that provide an understanding of co-operative theory, principles, developments, structures, and legislation;
- to undertake original research into co-operatives;
- to publish co-operative research, both that of the Centre staff and of other researchers; and
- to maintain a resource centre of materials that support the Centre's teaching and research functions.

For more information about the centre, please contact: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8 Phone: (306) 966–8509 / Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca / Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop

Our publications are designed to disseminate and encourage the discussion of research conducted at, or under the auspices of, the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives. The views expressed constitute the opinions of the author, to whom any comments should be addressed.

Introduction

enabled the development of well over ninety-eight thousand co-operatives that provide nearly 1.1 million jobs (Barrachina Ros 2003; Zamagni 2006; Government of Quebec 2003; see Table 1, below). While not a comprehensive investigation, this paper will analyse critical components of the enabling environment in each context, with consideration of what might be transferable to Manitoba. The goal of this research project is to identify policies, structures, and financing mechanisms that can inform the development of appropriate models for Manitoba as well as support sector-controlled and self-sustaining co-operative development organizations. Although obviously important, the socio-cultural factors in Spain, Italy, and Quebec that have predisposed them to achieve remarkable co-operative development are outside the scope of this research.

Table 1: Co-operatives and Jobs — Spain, Italy, and Quebec, over the Past Fifty Years

| Country | Co-ops | Jobs |
|---------|--------|-----------|
| Spain | 25,000 | 300,000 |
| Italy | 70,000 | 700,000 |
| Quebec | 3,380 | 74,922 |
| Total | 98,380 | 1,074,922 |

RESEARCH OVERVIEW

THIS RESEARCH ASSUMES that co-operatives matter. The co-operative model has been widely recognized as an important community economic development tool for increasing social capital, anchoring wealth in the community, and creating jobs. The International Co-operative Alliance defines a co-operative as "an autonomous association of persons united voluntarily to meet their common economic, social, and cultural needs and aspirations through a jointly-owned and democratically-controlled enterprise" (ICA 1996).

According to the Canadian Co-operative Association (2007), "after five years, the survival rate of a new co-operative enterprise is almost twice that of an investor-owned company." In addition, co-operatives invest in their communities by creating employment, making donations, and providing sponsorships (Government of Quebec 2003). Co-operatives are more productive than private companies because they maintain a "social contract" with communities; they guarantee the "continued viability of jobs, promote entrepreneurship, and improve quality of life without sacrificing competitiveness" (Lotti et al. 2006, 4). Thus, their unique dual nature, meeting economic and social goals at the same time, makes them better suited to satisfy the needs of communities. In addition, "co-operatives provide over 100 million jobs around the world, 20% more than multinational enterprises," which speaks to the potential of co-operatives to contribute to the economic development of local communities through job creation (ICA 2009).

The ability to use the co-operative model effectively as an empowering socio-economic instrument, however, requires the availability of technical assistance, education and skill-development strategies, strong co-operative associations and sector infrastructure, supportive public policy, and appropriate financial tools.

This research project analyses the context and history, sector infrastructure, tax legislation, and policies impacting co-operative development in Spain (Mondragon Co-op), Italy (the Emilia Romagna region), Quebec, and Manitoba. It will also study the role of co-operative associations and federations in assisting co-operative development, in particular the

mechanisms that have given them the resources and capacity to provide the critical co-operative development supports required for success. The researcher will analyse these different enabling policy environments and explore the possibilities of parlaying the findings into appropriate models for the Manitoba context.

This paper is divided into three parts, each of which explores a key factor in the development of the co-operative sector in the selected regions:

- history and achievements
- co-operative support organizations
- public policy and financing

Following this analysis, the researcher will describe the existing environment for co-operative development in Manitoba. The final section identifies policy recommendations to enhance support for co-operative development.

HISTORY AND ACHIEVEMENTS

Spain

A FTER THE SPANISH CIVIL WAR (1936), Spain faced a serious economic and social depression. Inspired by Catholic social thought, a priest by the name of José Maria Arizmendiarrieta started a vocational school in the Basque country, responding to employment barriers for local workers as well as a need for secondary education. In 1956, five graduates founded the first co-operative in Mondragon — ULGOR — which had twenty-four workers manufacturing oil stoves and paraffin heaters (Herrera 2004). Father Arizmendiarrieta's guiding philosophy of "dignity of work and democratic enterprise" shaped his new business model (Lutz 1997, 2; Clark 2004). By 1959, ULGOR had 170 workerowners and new co-operatives were being created in the industrial sector.

The worker-owner co-operative model combines a traditional hierarchical structure with innovative features that allow workers to have real decision-making input as owners. The

model benefits from the efficiency of a management structure while ensuring optimal working conditions as the management acts on behalf of, and in the interests of, its fellow co-op worker-owners (Lutz 1997). This equilibrium of direct and representative democracy in a participative management structure facilitates a remarkable "internal dynamism and adaptability" that creates a competitive advantage in the marketplace (Cheney 1999, 57).

Father Arizmendiarrieta also created the concept of a co-operative bank or credit union as a source of capital for the expanding co-ops, with the idea that Mondragon residents would deposit their savings, which would in turn be invested in local co-operatives (Cheney 1999). The credit union, known as Caja Laboral Popular (CLP), provided financial and technical assistance for the creation of new co-operatives as well as funds for a co-operative social security system (Cheney 1999; Whyte and Whyte 1991). Between 1961 and 1976, the CLP spawned an average of four to five start-ups per year (Cheney 1999). Today it has €13.98 billion in assets and ranks among the largest financial institutions in Spain (MCC annual report 2008). CLP played a crucial role in sustaining the Mondragon co-ops during the harsh recession Spain suffered in the 1980s by being patient on loan payments and even forgiving some loans in special cases.

The Mondragon Corporacion Cooperativa (MCC) came into being after decades of cooperative growth, sector infrastructure development, and co-operative organizing. MCC is a third-tier co-operative business group made up of 264 companies (mainly co-operatives) organized into sectors: financial, industrial, distribution, and research and training. The sectoral groups function independently, yet within a comprehensive strategy co-ordinated by MCC. In 2008, MCC consisted of 92,773 worker/owners, had total assets of €33.5 billion, and total revenue of €16.8 billion (MCC annual report 2008).

Italy

The Emilia-Romagna region of Italy is another case of remarkable economic development initiated by co-operatives. Once devastated by the Second World War, Emilia-Romagna now ranks twelfth among 171 European regions in terms of per capita income (Mazzonis 1996). Italy was characterized by widespread entrepreneurship that spawned small and medium-sized enterprises that were critical for the future development of the country and produced impressive statistical results (Zamagni 2000). There are more than seventy thousand co-operatives in Italy, sixteen thousand of which are producer co-operatives, the

largest concentration in the Western world (Zamagni 2006; Bartlett et al. 1992). With 5 million members, Italy also has one of the biggest consumer co-operative movements (Lotti et al. 2006). And in response to the privatization of government services, social co-ops now provide 60 percent of home and health-care services.

The co-operative sector has attained 15 percent growth in an almost idle economy during the last three years by keeping retail "prices 5 percent lower than most supermarkets, and 2 to 3 percent lower than those of their fiercest competitors" (Lotti et al. 2006, 8). The lower prices are due possibly to the significant collective purchasing power of the many large consumer co-ops, which are organized by their federations to act strategically for their collective benefit (Logue 2006). The regional finance minister of Emilia-Romagna, Flavio del Bono, stated that "the massive presence of cooperative firms is a stabilizing factor in the regional economy" (as cited in Logue 2006, 2).

The democratic, member-based governance structure and the employee ownership of a co-operative are seen as a competitive advantage; the business is run by its members and votes are based on membership rather than on capital (Logue 2006; Lotti et al. 2006). Stefano Bolognesi, president of Cooperativa Ceramiche d'Imola, Italy's fifth largest ceramics company, feels that "the gift of the cooperative is to create a sense of collective entrepreneurship. Membership requires thinking about the business," which results in a more committed workforce than in private companies (as cited in Logue 2006, 4). In this sense, co-operatives "proved to be influential innovators of participative management practice, pioneering such widely accepted techniques as self-managing work teams and value chain collaboration" (Lotti et al. 2006, 9).

University of Bologna economics professor Stefano Zamagni argues that "co-ops' emphasis on fairness and respect contribute to the accumulation of social capital"; "co-ops reduce inequality," and "we know internationally that lower inequality is correlated with higher quality of life" (as cited in Logue 2006, 13).

Quebec

While Italy has more than seventy thousand co-operatives employing about 1.2 million people, Canada (with just over half the population of Italy) has only about nine thousand co-operatives employing 155,000 people (Zamagni 2006; CCA 2007). Without undervaluing the achievements of the early Canadian co-op and credit union movement

leaders, Canada's co-operative sector does not currently enjoy the same level of development as Italy and Spain. Simply put, the level of policy support that specifically enables the creation and growth of co-operatives in Canada is weak, which is surprising when one considers the fundamental ideological differences and resulting socio-economic benefits of co-operatives versus private-enterprise models (Holland 1981). In addition, the Canadian tax system does not distinguish between co-operatives and other corporations, which results in identical corporate income tax rates (Holland 1981).

Quebec's co-operative sector, however, is an exception and is worth noting as it is the result of significant policy support. The co-operative sector has developed partnerships among the existing co-operatives through their federations and with the Government of Quebec, agreements that have significantly influenced the emergence of co-ops and strength of the sector (Labelle 1999).

Critical to the strength of the co-operative sector in Quebec has been the nature of the province's credit unions, both in terms of their scale and their commitment to co-operative development. Alphonse Desjardins is the nineteenth century visionary who inspired the development of credit unions in North America to provide access to credit for people excluded from the banking system (Labelle 1999). Today, almost 5.5 million people in Quebec are members of the Desjardins movement, the province's largest private employer, with close to forty thousand employees. Along with the credit unions, there are many nonfinancial co-ops in various sectors of the economy including agriculture, retail, forestry, housing, funeral services, child care, and health care. Nonfinancial co-ops have more than thirty-five thousand employees, nearly nine hundred thousand members, and over \$3 billion in assets (Labelle 1999; Government of Quebec 2003, 16).

Another key piece of supportive infrastructure in Quebec is le Chantier de l'économie sociale, whose role in promoting co-ops, social enterprises, and community economic development organizations has been enormous in the last two decades. Le Chantier gained influence during the deep economic recession in the mid-1990s as women's organizations, trade unions, anti-poverty groups, and the social economy sector joined forces to demand a real investment in social infrastructure, policies, and funding to promote social enterprises, changes in co-op legislation, and employment creation (Neamtan 2002, as cited in Loxley and Simpson 2007; Côté 2007). The result was a strong and influential social economy sector that included government funding for operations as well as government-seeded investment funds controlled by the sector for long-term investment; together, these measures provide continuity to co-ops and social economy organizations (Loxley and Simpson 2007).

| Table 2: Statistica | l Portrait of the | Quebec Co- | operative M | lovement in 2000 |
|---------------------|-------------------|------------|-------------|------------------|
| | | | | |

| | Number of Co-ops | Sales (\$ millions) | Assets (\$ millions) | Members (000) | Jobs |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------|------------------|--------|
| Desjardins financial services co-ops | 972 | 5,888 | 76,117 | 5,068 | 36,436 |
| Mutual insurance companies | 39 | 1,554 | 3,874 | 1,310 | 3,483 |
| Nonfinancial co-ops | 2,369 | 6,621 | 3,565 | 848 | 35,003 |
| Total | 3,380 | 14,063 | 83,556 | 7,226 | 74,922 |

Source: Cooperatives Branch, Ministère des Finances, de l'Économie et de la Recherche (as cited in Government of Quebec 2003, 16).

CO-OPERATIVE SUPPORT ORGANIZATIONS

Spain

 ${
m P}^{
m ARTICULARLY~DURING~THEIR~INITIAL~YEARS},$ the Mondragon co-operatives benefited from support entities developed by the MCC itself based on the underpinning philosophy of creating its own support organizations as needs and opportunities arose (MCC 2008). These include:

- Caja Laboral (credit union)
- Caja Laboral's Business Division, which provides technical assistance, management advice, and animates the creation of new co-operatives
- Saiolan, a business incubator centre to support co-op start-ups, sector diversity through innovation, and innovative production processes
- Mondragon University and vocational training centres for educating qualified staff
- Garaia, a research and development centre in sectors such as energy, construction technology, business management, micro-electronics, telecommunications, and nanotechnology

 Ikerlan, a research and development centre for new products, production processes, energy efficiency, and renewable energy (MCC 2008)

Caja Laboral was critical as a sustainable source of capital for the co-operative sector (Whyte and Whyte 1991). And in keeping with the philosophy of sector ownership of infrastructure, Caja Laboral's board of directors is made up of co-op representatives, which ensures that worker-owner co-ops and the employment they generate remain the prioritized focus in terms of capital access. To ensure that the co-ops borrowing from the credit union remain committed to the co-operative principles of democratic governance, sovereignty of labour over capital, job creation, and solidarity, the co-operative must sign a contract of association with the credit union committing themselves to these principles (Lutz 1997).

For decades, the credit union provided financial and technical assistance for new and existing co-operatives. In the 1980s, however, the National Bank of Spain brought in new regulations regarding securities and risks that prevented the credit union from providing training and technical assistance. This led to the creation of a second-tier co-op that would assist in the development of new co-op enterprises to ensure that the co-operative sector's needs continued to be met (Lutz 1997).

In keeping with their commitment to democratic principles, Mondragon established a unique governance structure — the Co-operative Congress — comprising 650 delegates from member co-ops who make binding decisions for MCC (MCC 2008).

Mondragon also identified educational institutions as important components of the supportive infrastructure required to build the capacity of co-operatives, the co-op sector, and individuals working, managing, and directing in co-operative organizations.

Following Father Arizmendiarrieta's vision of emphasizing the importance of education for both people and co-operatives, the Mondragon Group created Mondragon Unibertsitatea (Mondragon University) in 1997. The Spanish Ministry of Education declared it a non-profit university of common public interest because of its co-operative structure. Mondragon University grew out of the amalgamation of three educational co-ops that now constitute its Vocational School, Faculty of Business Studies, and Faculty of Humanities and Education.

Through the university's membership in the Mondragon Group, students develop close ties with co-operative organizations and enhance their skills through employment in co-ops throughout their studies. The university has about four thousand students and offers twenty-two degree courses at the undergraduate and graduate level (Mondragon University 2008).

Italy

Co-operative federations play a key role in the development of Italy's co-op sector. The three main federations — Confederazione Cooperative Italiane, Lega Nazionale delle Cooperative e Mutue, and Associazione Generale — each have their own financial institutions and insurance companies as well as training and research and development centres. They also provide services to their members such as payroll and legal assistance, workplace safety training, skills development, tax preparation, collective bargaining, and more (Logue 2006). These federations also each manage co-op development funds that offer below-market-rate loans to finance new co-op start-ups, conversions, and expansions.

In exchange for these services, co-operative members pay membership dues to their particular federation. Lega members, for example, pay .4 percent of total sales as their membership fee (Logue 2006).

Confederazione Cooperative Italiane

The Confederazione Cooperative Italiane (CCI) is committed to "representation, assistance and protection of the cooperative movement and social enterprises" and performs "all that may be required for the development of the activities of [its] own associated cooperatives" (European Commission 2008, 50). CCI is made up of about nineteen thousand co-ops with 3 million members and has revenues of €40 billion. It is organized into twenty-two regional, eighty provincial, and five interprovincial clusters, which all promote the creation and development of co-operatives (European Commission 2008).

CCI is also structured into eight sector federations: agriculture, housing, credit unions, fishing, consumer, labour and services, solidarity (social co-ops), and culture, tourism, and sport. Each federation deals with the protection and advancement of the interests of its own member co-ops according to its area of expertise (Confcooperative 2008 — this is missing from the references).

As one example, the CCI regional network in Liguria provides its members with a wide range of highly qualified experts and specialized services in areas such as:

- new co-op development
- business plan development
- finance
- facilitating access to financing

- accounting and taxes
- collective bargaining
- human resources
- sustainability
- civil and tax legal assistance
- workplace safety (European Union 2008)

Lega Nazionale delle Cooperative e Mutue

Lega Nazionale delle Cooperative e Mutue consists of about thirteen thousand co-operatives with 5 million members and has revenues of €32 billion (European Commission 2008). The association provides basic fiscal, legal, and financial services for member co-operatives as well as training and technical assistance. Lega owns and manages three national structures (Lega 2008).

- Coopfond is a mutual fund that finances new co-ops and co-op expansions with below-market-rate loans. It is made up of the 3 percent of annual net profits set aside by all co-operatives, as required by national law, as well as residual resources from co-operative liquidations. By 2004, "it had raised about \$290 million and had invested about \$340 million" in loans and equity capital for co-operatives (Logue 2006, 10). "Between 1994 and 2001, Coopfond supported 109 co-op start-ups with \$48 million in equity and \$17 million in loans, leveraging \$288 million in investment and creating 4,640 new jobs. It also supported 82 expansion projects with \$53 million in loans, leveraging \$370 million in co-op investments and creating 2,690 new jobs. That's 7,300 for \$101 million invested, or about \$14,000 per job" (Logue 2006, 10).
- Inforcoop is a second-tier co-operative training and research institute that promotes co-op values and identity. Its goal is to create a society based on equality and solidarity and to provide training to co-op workers, managers, and directors.
- Consorzio Cooperativo Finanziario per lo Sviluppo (Cooperative Financial Consortium for Development) was originally set up in 1904 as a railway co-operative. Its goals changed in the 1970s when it became part of Lega as a financial intermediation co-operative facilitating access to credit and other financial resources for members (CCFS 2008).

Lega also identified the need to educate its workforce in co-op values and principles and related skills, and achieved this through partnerships between the co-operative federations and universities or research centres.

In 2003, for example, the University of Bologna and Lega signed an agreement that in-

cludes full-year work experience and apprenticeships in Lega co-operatives for around six hundred university students per year. As part of this agreement, Lega finances at least three co-operative start-ups per year that apply knowledge generated by the university. In addition, the two institutions work together to develop digital technologies as well as techniques for distance learning. Lega also provides two-year scholarships and mentoring for graduate students in order to develop middle and senior managers in co-operative organizations (Legacoop Bologna 2008a).

In 2003, Lega created Prolog, a research centre offering courses, seminars, and training in advanced logistical systems and supply-chain management for co-operatives to enhance their global competitiveness (Legacoop Bologna 2008b).

In 2004, Lega worked with the University of Bologna, the BC Co-operative Association, and VanCity Capital Corporation to create the Bologna Summer Program for Co-operative Studies. Since 2004, the Bologna Summer Program has offered four-week sessions of intensive instruction at the graduate level for students and practitioners with co-operative experience. The program includes scholars from the University of Bologna, key co-operative leaders and practitioners from Italy, and scholars from Canada and the UK (Legacoop Bologna 2008c).

Other Co-operative Infrastructure in Italy

Cooperfidi is a consortium created by CCI, Lega, and Associazione Generale to provide financial advisory services as well as credit guarantees for its members in order to facilitate access to loans. It also interacts with regional authorities and local organizations to devise financial policies that encourage the development of co-operatives (European Commission 2008). In addition, it develops partnerships and agreements with major credit institutions to guarantee co-operatives access to capital.

Cooperazione Finanza Impresa (CFI) was established in 1986 by the three main co-operative federations as a private equity investor dedicated to creating new co-operatives by transforming existing businesses on the verge of bankruptcy into worker co-operatives. CFI has assets of €108 million and has invested about €80 million of equity in 160 worker co-operatives, ensuring stable employment for approximately six thousand workers (CFI 2008).

Unipol is an insurance co-operative created in 1963 by Bologna co-ops in order to provide themselves with insurance. Today it ranks as the third largest insurance company in

Italy, employs 5,400 people, and is widely recognized for being a "pioneer of social accounting in Italy" (Logue 2006, 9–10). Most of its reserves are invested back into the co-op sector.

Quebec

In addition to the powerful Desjardins movement and the politically influential Chantier de l'économie sociale, Quebec also has the Conseil québécois de la coopération et de la mutualité (CQCM), which is the provincial umbrella association for co-operatives. CQCM is organized into forty co-op federations and acts as a political advocate to strengthen the co-operative sector by creating favourable conditions through supportive legislation and policies (Labelle 1999).

While there is other supportive infrastructure in Quebec, a significant and unique factor influencing the dynamic growth of the co-op movement in the province has been the creation of Coopératives de Développement Régional or Regional Development Co-operatives (RDCs), which are second-tier co-op organizations with a mandate to support the creation of new co-operatives, strengthen existing co-ops, and organize a co-operative network in each region (Côté 2007). RDCs thus encourage co-operative organizations to work together to co-ordinate co-operative development efforts in each region (Labelle 1999).

RDCs have five mandates:

- 1. Plan and carry out activities like Cooperation Week to promote the formation of more co-operatives.
- 2. Supply technical assistance to co-operative entrepreneurs for the start-up or expansion of a co-operative enterprise.
- 3. Promote familiarity with successful co-operatives in various social and economic organizational settings and among the general public.
- 4. Organize mini-conferences, seminars, and training adapted to the needs of particular co-operatives.
- 5. Get involved beyond the co-operative world in other regional economic development projects with both governmental and private partners (Labelle 1999, 3).

RDCs are funded primarily by the Government of Quebec's Co-operative Development Assistance Program, which is part of the Ministry for Economic Development, Innovation, and Export (Savard 2007). The ministry also provides \$3 million annually for co-operative development. These funds are managed and allocated by the eleven existing RDCs in order to

support co-operatives and provide "technical services to promoters of new co-operatives, [and] specialized support and follow-up services to existing co-operatives" (Savard 2007, 246). RDCs also have access to significant funding for co-op start-ups and worker buyouts through the Desjardins credit unions and the co-operative development funds of Investment Quebec, a government corporation (Labelle 1999).

While RDCs support emerging and existing co-operatives in a variety of ways, they also seek out potential future co-op members by building relationships with employers, governments, unions, and educational institutions, involving them as partners in some economic development projects (Labelle 1999).

CQCM has also worked closely with the provincial government to create and co-manage a job creation program in which the RDCs receive about "\$2,000 per job created in new co-operatives." In 1999, this program resulted in the creation of more than fifteen hundred jobs in 175 new co-operatives (Labelle 1999, 3).

PUBLIC POLICY AND FINANCING

Spain

O-OPERATIVES IN SPAIN receive a substantial corporate tax advantage as compared to privately owned firms. The corporate income tax rate for co-operatives is 10 percent of profits, whereas private corporations pay 28 percent. This is a significant benefit (Noticias Juridicas 1990) and one of the key policies that enabled the development of Spain's co-op sector to the point of strength, capacity, and autonomy it currently enjoys. The Mondragon Co-op Corporation creates its own systems, services, and institutions, including a social security system, financial institutions and mechanisms, innovation and research centres, and Mondragon University, among others.

Spanish law requires that each co-op establish a social fund, to which it must allocate 10 percent of its profits. The law also stipulates how the funds may be used — e.g., training for members, managers, and board directors of the co-op as well as contributions to community

and environmental initiatives and organizations (MacLeod 1997; Lutz 1997). The social funds are audited every two years to ensure compliance; fines in the amount of the shortfall is the penalty.

Another Spanish law ensures the long-term financial stability and strength of individual co-operative assets; each co-op must place 20 percent of its annual net surplus into its indivisible reserves (MacLeod 1997). Employees/members cannot draw on these reserves; they are intended solely to secure the co-operative's long-term sustainability and maintain the employment it offers the citizens of Spain. If a co-operative dissolves, indivisible reserves are given to charities.

As another way to grow the asset base of co-operatives and at the same time build assets for the worker-owners, Father Arizmendiarrieta devised the Individualized Capital Accounts (ICAs). New members contribute a "threshold payment" (\$12,000 in 1997) when they join the co-operative that is deposited into their personal account, which is adjusted upwards for inflation each year as well as increasing by an interest rate of about 6 percent (Lutz 1997, 5). Fifteen to twenty-five percent of the threshold payment is a nonrefundable contribution to the co-operative's indivisible reserves. For new members who cannot afford the threshold payment up front, it can be paid through a salary deduction plan over a three-year period (Lutz 1997, 5). A significant portion of the co-op's net surplus each year is allocated to the ICAs in proportion to each worker-owner's hours of work. The ICA remains in the co-operative until the member retires or leaves the business.

Mark Lutz (1997) finds the keys to Mondragon's success in "how the co-operatives are managed, how they are financially and legally structured, and how they are supported by the co-operative bank" (4). Public policy plays a critical role in strengthening co-ops as well. Between the lower tax rate and the retention of surplus in both the indivisible reserves and the ICAs, co-operatives retain 80 percent of their annual profits as assets, which significantly enhances their strength and sustainability compared to other corporate models (Lutz 1997; Whyte and Whyte 1991).

Italy

Italy has also created some innovative and preferential co-operative taxation mechanisms. The 1947 Basevi Law provided co-operatives with special tax treatment to encourage self-capitalization by allowing for the creation of indivisible reserves, contributions

towards which were exempted from corporate income tax, quite significant considering Italy's current corporation income tax rate of 33 percent for privately owned businesses (Thompson 2005). In 2003, this was decreased to a 70 percent exemption for co-ops that do more than half their business with members and 30 percent for those that do less than half their business with members (Logue 2006).

In 1985, the Italian government passed the Marcora Act, which represented another step towards supporting job creation through the worker-owner co-operative model. This Act created a fund to assist in the development of new co-operatives, particularly those created by workers facing job loss through business bankruptcies, sale and relocation of business, owner retirement, or other reasons for closures (Logue 2006).

In 1992, law n. 59 established that co-ops must contribute a mandatory but tax exempt 3 percent of its profits towards mutual funds managed by second-tier co-operative associations created to support co-op start-ups and development (Logue 2006). The Coopfond, described above, is one example of a fund resulting from this policy.

The Italian government also supported co-operative development through the establishment of regional economic development agencies, which provide shared services in "research and development, education and training, workplace safety, technology transfer, marketing and distribution, and exporting," among others (Logue 2006, 4). The agencies set up and support business clusters, with a focus on co-operatives, as a way of combining the "economies of scale with the advantages and flexibility of small business" in the so-called flexible manufacturing of the Emilia-Romagna region (Logue 2006, 3). This involves small businesses in the same industry co-operating in joint bids for major contracts (Mazzonis 1996).

Quebec

Co-operative development in Quebec has been particularly dynamic in the last twenty years due in part to legislative changes that created two new variations on the traditional co-op model — the solidarity co-operative and the worker-shareholder co-operative (Côté 2007). The solidarity co-op is a hybrid model that allows three types of membership in one co-operative: consumers, workers, and solidarity members (usually local organizations) (Labelle 1999). It is a versatile model that can be adapted to all sectors of the economy and enables access to additional capital and expertise through the support members, which makes it one of the more commonly used models for new co-operative start-ups in Quebec (Côté 2007).

The worker-shareholder co-op model allows workers to collectively purchase shares in the company they work for through a new co-op, giving the co-op "stock voting rights according to its share of ownership" (Labelle 1999, 2). The co-op's votes in the private company are determined by the number of participating workers and based on the one member, one vote formula. The worker-shareholder co-op acquires a portion of corporate profits and is able to participate in the company's decision making. This model also enables the company to acquire expansion capital, facilitate corporate restructuring, and enhance personnel retention.

In 1985, in an effort to encourage further investment in co-operatives, the Government of Quebec established the Régime d'investissement Coopératif (System Co-operative Investment Tax Incentive, SCI), which gives members and workers a personal income tax deduction of up to 150 percent of any capital invested in the co-op (Labelle 1999). By 1999, the SCI had enabled the investment of "\$170 million in producer and worker co-operatives," mainly as forestry co-ops doubled their investments from 1996 to 1997 (Labelle 1999, 4).

In an even more direct action towards the support of co-operatives, the Government of Quebec created Investment Quebec, a government corporation that established, among other initiatives, a \$140 million fund to provide loans to co-operatives. This co-op development fund enjoys the reputation of being highly productive and "having the lowest losses" in comparison to other funds (Labelle 1999, 3).

In 2003, the Government of Quebec launched a co-operative development policy with four major areas of action:

- 1. Introduce an effective and innovative legal framework
- 2. Develop or improve capitalization and financing tools suitable for the co-operative environment
- 3. Improve consulting services available to co-operatives
- 4. Acknowledge the role of co-operatives by integrating and harmonizing government action in the area of co-operative development, which translates into a committed procurement policy (Government of Quebec 2003, 9).

Labelle (1999) states that the reasons for the number and vitality of the Quebec co-operatives are the "strong organizational support from established cooperatives and the federations they have created, along with the support and partnership of the Quebec government" (4).

CO-OP POLICY IN MANITOBA

In MANITOBA, there is a long history of co-operatives, co-op development, and public policy support for co-operatives. However, because the supportive infrastructure is not well developed, the sector lacks cohesiveness and strength. There is not even an accurate accounting of the number of co-operatives in the province, although estimates suggest there are more than 350 co-ops with a membership of 290,000 (Manitoba Finance 2006 as cited in Loxley and Simpson 2007). With regard to public policy, Loxley and Simpson (2007, 37) note that "the policy environment in Manitoba appears to be much less enabling for co-ops than in Quebec, which, as a result, has a much larger scale of co-operative operations."

Co-operatives are organized under the Manitoba Co-operative Association (MCA), although only about 150 participate as members (MCA 2008). With only one staff person, the MCA remains woefully under resourced to create the supportive environment that would lead to a thriving and vibrant co-operative community in Manitoba.

The provincial government has launched the Manitoba Community Enterprise Development Tax Credit Program (MCEDP) as a tool for community-based enterprises to raise equity capital. Individual investors in co-operatives, for example, receive a 30 percent personal income tax credit through this program (MCEDP 2006). However, Loxley and Simpson (2007) argue that the tax credit has not been used to its full potential, perhaps due to the relatively low demand for the program. Chernoff (2008) identifies other possible reasons why uptake of this financing mechanism has been slow. The government is reluctant to allow for the pooling of equity capital in CED investment funds and has also placed restrictions on the types of business activity deemed eligible. Fishing, farming, property ownership and management, forestry, and performing arts, for example, do not qualify under the program.

The Government of Manitoba has also created a Community Economic Development Policy Framework that is intended to act as a lens in its departments, programming, and policy development (MacKinnon 2006 as cited in Loxley and Simpson 2007). The principles

of this policy framework include support for local employment, skill development and training, local ownership, community participation, and sustainable development. While this would seem to be a foundational policy from which support for co-operative development would naturally emerge, MacKinnon argues that this inter-departmental policy means that "CED has become the interest of everyone, but the responsibility of no one. There is no single champion and no real budget" because there are no enforcing mechanisms in place (as cited in Loxley and Simpson 2007, 33).

The provincial government has made some attempts to shape procurement policies in ways that could be supportive to at least some co-operatives. The Sustainable Development Act articulates a prioritization for procurement that considers the ecological, economic, social, and cultural impacts that could particularly advantage co-operatives with environmentally sound practices (Government of Manitoba 1997). The government has also committed to becoming a purchaser on the Winnipeg Social Purchasing Portal (WSPP), an online shopping guide that lists social enterprises and community-based businesses that create jobs for people with barriers to employment (WSPP 2004). Many co-operatives appear as suppliers on this website, suggesting that there is a clear opportunity for this procurement practice to benefit co-ops. However, there is little evidence to suggest that either of these procurement policies has had any impact on the government's practices to date.

The Manitoba tax structure for personal and corporate income does not provide any advantage to co-operatives, although they will be benefiting in general as the provincial government recently announced a reduction in corporate income tax rates (see Table 3). Unlike the environment for co-ops in Italy and Spain, Manitoba has no specific, advantageous tax policy for co-operatives or any tax mechanism that strengthens the sector and its infrastructure as a whole.

Table 3: Corporate Income Tax Rates Since 1999

| Taxable Income | 1999 | 2007 | 2008 | 2009 |
|------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Up to \$200,000 | 8% | 3.0% | 2.0% | 1.0% |
| \$200,000 to \$400,000 | 17.0% | 3.0% | 2.0% | 1.0% |
| Over \$400,000 | 17.0% | 14.0% | 13.0% | 12.0% |

Source: Manitoba Finance 2007. "The 2007 Budget Papers: C. Taxation Adjustments," page C6.

The province does have a Co-operative Development Services Department within Manitoba Agriculture, Food, and Rural Initiatives (MAFRI 2008), which provides technical assistance and other support to co-operatives. There is also the Co-op Promotions Board, which offers small grants for co-operative development and promotion, as well as the Co-operative Loans Guarantee Board, which helps co-operatives gain access to financing.

In the summer of 2008, MAFRI (2008a) went through an engagement and visioning process with the co-operative community that led to a co-op development strategy with three main objectives:

- 1. Create a more supportive environment for the establishment and ongoing operation of co-operatives
- 2. Foster better awareness and understanding of the nature and value of co-operatives
- 3. Provide better infrastructure supports and services for co-operatives (4)

The Manitoba government has stated its support for a number of strategies to assist coop development, including public awareness; education and skill development for the co-op community; policy mechanisms that strengthen and create a self-sustaining co-op infrastructure; technical assistance; financing mechanisms; and procurement policies. Despite these good intentions, however, it remains to be seen what the provincial government is willing to follow through on, and provide the resources for, in the realization of this vision.

Conclusion

THE RESEARCH FINDINGS demonstrate that the level of co-operative development is directly related to the nature of the supportive environment, the strength of the sector's infrastructure, and government commitment to enabling the growth of this environment and infrastructure through policy, programming, and funding.

All of the regions under study have an infrastructure that provides technical assistance and co-op development services for communities and collective entrepreneurs. These services are complimented by funds to support co-operative development, an important acknow-

ledgement that co-op start-ups require both technical support and financial resources. These services are not only reactive to demand but also play an animating function that seeks out new opportunities for co-operative development and brings people and resources together to take advantage of them.

The co-operative communities in Italy and Spain have both developed key educational strategies, with federations and support groups cultivating their own research and development capacities as well as partnerships with universities for training and internship programs. Mondragon even created its own university for co-operative education and skills development, which provides a continuous supply of new, well-educated co-operative members, managers, and directors.

Access to capital is also critical, and these three regions have significant capital pools dedicated to supporting the establishment of new co-operatives, co-op conversions, and co-op expansions. These capital pools are made up of permanent capital owned and controlled by the co-operative community; governments have played a significant role in creating and growing the capital pools through direct contributions or tax mechanisms that facilitate their growth.

The three regions also demonstrate considerable co-operative community infrastructure beyond the financing, educational, and technical support/animation capacities already described. Their organization into federations, associations, and other governance forms has clearly been the result of solidarity and vision, and has enabled a more coherent and strategic approach to co-operative development than would have been possible otherwise. Governments have played a significant role in strengthening and providing resources for this infrastructure, either through direct financial contributions or by creating tax mechanisms that provide resources to assist in co-op development.

It is important to note the government perspective on its role in co-operative development in these regions. Governments are strongly committed to co-operatives as preferred, or at least significant, business models deserving of intentional and strategic supportive interventions and mechanisms. As mentioned, there is supportive policy, programming, and funding for co-ops and co-op development. However, government does not see itself as the lead stakeholder in the process or the sector, but rather plays a supportive and enabling role while acknowledging the leadership of the co-op community. This ensures sector ownership of the strategic direction, infrastructure, financing mechanisms, and co-operative development activities.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

- Declare a government commitment to co-operative development, including
 co-production of public policy with the co-op community in recognition of their
 preferable business model for individuals, communities, and government priorities.
- Invest resources and political will in the Co-op Visioning Strategy and ensure that the process is led by the co-operative community empowered with the capacity to mobilize the necessary actors and resources to achieve the goals.
- Strengthen the capacity of the Manitoba Co-operative Association, recognizing the critical role played by sector infrastructure and services including education, technical assistance and training, research and policy development/advocacy, and animating functions in the success of co-operative development. Although this would require government funding in the short term, long-term sustainability could be achieved by creating a tax mechanism to facilitate sector investment in co-op infrastructure and the MCA.
- **Create a tax mechanism** that would strengthen co-op infrastructure and sector associations as well as create a patient capital fund owned and managed by the co-op community. This could be achieved through contributions from the co-op sector itself, with matching funds from government. Options might include
 - allowing for corporate income tax redirection from co-operatives to the MCA
 as well as to a co-operative development fund with both granting and patient
 capital components managed by the co-op community
 - providing a 100 percent corporate income tax credit for contributions made by co-operatives to this co-op development fund
- Ensure the adequate provision of technical assistance for co-operative development through existing departmental staff, a technical assistance fund, and funding to build the capacity of the MCA. Ensure that in the long term, the co-op community has sufficient resources to provide this service itself.
- Build the capacity of the co-operative community through training and other skill development strategies for staff, management, and directors of co-operatives. Again, an effective tax mechanism would ensure that the co-op community has the long-term capacity to undertake these strategies itself.
- Promote and strengthen the CED Tax Credit to ensure that this tool is known to
 all those involved in co-op development. Also ensure sufficient staffing capacity to
 undertake promotion strategies as well as to support the navigation of the tax credit
 process for co-operatives.

- Create tax incentives for indivisible reserves in order to facilitate and motivate the capitalization of co-operatives as well as significantly strengthen and enhance the sustainability of co-ops.
- Create a legal framework for multistakeholder co-operatives, as in Quebec, in order to enable broader and more diverse member/ownership in co-operatives as well as increase access to capital for co-operative development.
- Strengthen procurement policies to support co-operatives, recognizing their significant comparative advantage to communities and government priorities when considering the social return on investment and local economic spin-offs. Create accountability mechanisms to ensure that procurement practices actually reflect established policies.

References*

- Barrachina Ros, M. 2003. "Politica de fomento de la economia social." *CIRIEC-Espana. Revista de Economia Publica, Social y Cooperativa* 047 (November): 13–19. Retrieved 28 September 2008 from econpapers.repec.org/article/cicrevcir/y_3a2003_3ai_3a47_3ap_3a13-19.htm
- Bartlett, W., J. Cable, S. Estrin, D. Jones, and S. Smith. 1992. "Labor-Managed Cooperatives and Private Firms in North Central Italy: An Empirical Comparison." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46, no. 1 (October). Retrieved 6 November 2007 from ABI/INFORM Global.
- Canadian Co-operative Association. 2007. "Facts and Figures." Retrieved 5 November 2007 from www.coopscanada.coop/en/about_co-operative/Co-op-Facts-and-Figures
- Cheney, G. 1999. Values at Work: Employee Participation Meets Market Pressure at Mondragon. New York. Cornell University Press.
- Chernoff, A. 2008. "Creating Capital Pools to Support Social Enterprise Development in Manitoba." Report prepared for the Canadian CED Network. Retrieved 12 October 2008 from www.ccednet-rcdec.ca/files/ccednet/MB_SE_Report.pdf
- Clark, C. 2004. "The Mondragon Corporacion Cooperativa: An interview with Juan M. Sinde, Chief Executive Deputy." *Review of Business* 25, no. 1 (winter). Retrieved 6 November 2007 from ABI/INFORM Global.
- Confcooperative. 2008. "Organizational structure". Retrieved 12 September 2008 from http://www.confcooperative.it/C4/Historical%20Background/default.aspx
- Consorzio Cooperativo Finanziero per lo Sviluppo (CCFS). 2008. "History." Retrieved 30 June 2008 from www.ccfs.it/pages/it/48521/History.aspx
- *Note to readers: A number of items in this reference list were retrieved from ABI/INFORM Global, a database accessible only to University of Saskatchewan professors, students, and staff. Readers wishing more information about any of these documents should contact the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives at (306) 966–8509 or e-mail coop.studies@ usask.ca.

- Co-operatives Secretariat. 2007. "About Co-ops in Canada." Retrieved 5 November 2007 from www.coop.gc.ca/COOP/display-afficher.do?id=1232131333489&lang=eng
- Cooperazione Finanza Impresa (CFI). 2008. Retrieved 29 June 2008 from www.cfi.it/eng/index.php
- Côté, D. 2007. "Best Practices and Co-operative Development in Quebec." In *Effective Practices in Starting Co-ops: The Voice of Canadian Co-op Developers*, ed. J. Emmanuel and L. Cayo. Victoria: New Rochdale Press, British Columbia Institute for Co-operative Studies, University of Victoria.
- European Commission. 2008. "Local Cooperation Liguria. Europe closer to SMEs: A Regional Network at the Service of Enterprises." Euro Info Centre Liguria. Retrieved 12 June 2008 from ec.europa.eu/index_en.htm.
- Government of Manitoba. 1997. "The Sustainable Development Act." Retrieved 10 September 2008 from web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/statutes/ccsm/s270e.php
- Government of Quebec. 2003. "Cooperative Development Policy." Quebec: Ministère des Finances, de l'Économie et de la Recherche.
- Herrera, D. 2004. "Mondragon: A For-Profit Organization That Embodies Catholic Social Thought." *Review of Business* 25, no. 1 (winter). Retrieved 6 November 2007 from ABI/IN-FORM Global.
- Holland, D. 1981. "The Co-operative Movement and Taxation: A Study in Canadian Public Policy." Master's thesis, York University, National Library of Canada. Retrieved 6 November 2007 from ABI/INFORM Global.
- Huet, T. 2001. "News from Mondragon." *GEO* 30. Retrieved 5 November 2007 from www.geonewsletter.org/archives/huet.htm
- International Co-operative Alliance. 1996. "Statement on the Co-operative Identity: Co-operative Principles." Retrieved 5 November 2007 from www.ica.coop/coop/principles.html
- Labelle, L. 1999. "Development of Cooperatives and Employee Ownership, Quebec Style." Retrieved 14 July 2008 from cog.kent.edu/lib/Labelle.htm
- Lega Nazionale delle Cooperative e Mutue. 2008. "National Structures." Retrieved 30 June 2008 from www.legacoop.it/nactional_structure.aspx
- Legacoop Bologna. 2008a. "Legacoop and the University Sign the Agreement Protocol." Retrieved 29 June 2008 from www.legacoop.bologna.it/lbs/Index?q=newsobject/detail&p=News/_a_ID/_v_210
- ——. 2008b. "Prolog: Legacoop Bologna's New Logistics Initiative." Retrieved 29 June 2008 from
 - www.legacoop.bologna.it/lbs/Index?q=newsobject/detail&p=News/_a_ID/_v_218
- ——. 2008c. "Bologna Summer Program for Co-op Studies." Retrieved 29 June 2008 from www.legacoop.bologna.it/lbs/Index?q=newsobject/detail&p=News/_a_ID/_v_43

- Logue, J. 2006. "Economics, Cooperation, and Employee Ownership: The Emilia Romagna Model — in More Detail." Kent, Ohio: Ohio Employee Ownership Center. Retrieved 6 November 2007 from dept.kent.edu/oeoc/oeoclibrary/emiliaromagnalong.htm
- Lotti, R., P. Mensing, and D. Valenti. 2006. "A Co-operative Solution: This Self-Governing Corporate Structure Protects Communities and Prospers in a Globalizing World."

 Management Quarterly 47, no. 3 (fall). Retrieved 6 November 2007 from ABI/INFORM Global.
- Loxley, J., and D. Simpson. 2007. "Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba." Report prepared for the Canadian CED Network. Retrieved 12 September 2008 from www.ccednet-rcdec.ca/?q=en/node/5167
- Lutz, M. 1997. "The Mondragon Co-operative Complex: An Application of Kantian Ethics to Social Economics." *International Journal of Social Economics* 24, no. 12. Retrieved 6 November 2007 from ABI/INFORM Global.
- MacLeod, G. 1997. From Mondragon to America. Experiences in Community Economic Development. Sidney, Nova Scotia: University College of Cape Breton Press.
- Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives (MAFRI). 2008. "Co-operative Development Services." Retrieved 12 July 2008 from www.gov.mb.ca/agriculture/ri/coop_index.html
- ———. 2008a. "Leading and Making a Difference in Manitoba The Co-op Way. A Strategy for Developing and Maintaining Manitoba's Co-operative Community." Report prepared for MAFRI. Retrieved 18 December 2008 from www.manitoba.coop/up-loads/File/Co-op%20Strategy%20Paper%20-%20FINAL.pdf
- Manitoba Community Enterprise Development Program (MCEDP). 2006. "Community Economic Development Tax Credit Program." Retrieved 6 December 2007 from web2.gov.mb.ca/agriculture/programs/index.php?name=aaa21s04
- Manitoba Co-operative Association (MCA). 2008. "Member Companies and Organizations." Retrieved 23 November 2008 from www.manitoba.coop/index.php?page=members
- Manitoba Finance. 2007. "The 2007 Budget Papers: C. Taxation Adjustments." Retrieved 12 December 2007 from www.gov.mb.ca/finance/budget07/papers/index.html
- Mazzonis, D. 1996. "The Changing Role of ERVET in Emilia-Romagna." Chapter 7 in *Local and Regional Response to Global Pressure: The Case of Italy and Its Industrial Districts*, ed. F. Cossentino, F. Pyke, and W. Sengenberger. Geneva: International Institute for Labor Studies.
- Mondragon Corporacion Cooperativa. 2008. "Annual Report." Retrieved 11 August 2009 from www.mcc.es/ing/magnitudes/memoria.html
- ———. 2008. "Mondragon Co-operative Corporation." Retrieved 12 November 2007 from www.mcc.es/

- Mondragon University. 2008. "Mondragon Unibertsitatea." Retrieved 20 November 2007 from www.mondragon.edu/
- Noticias Juridicas. "Law 20/1990 The Taxation of Co-operatives in Spain." Retrieved 23 July 2008 from noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Fiscal/l20-1990.html
- Savard, C. 2007. "Co-operative Practices and the Experience of a Regional Development Co-operative." In *Effective Practices in Starting Co-ops: The Voice of Canadian Co-op Developers*, ed. J. Emmanuel and L. Cayo. Victoria: New Rochdale Press, British Columbia Institute for Co-operative Studies, University of Victoria.
- Thompson, D. 2005. "Building the Future: Change, Challenge, Capital, and Clusters at Italy's Market Leader." *Cooperative Grocer* 121, no. 11. Retrieved 21 January 2008 from www.cooperativegrocer.coop/articles/index.php?id=623
- Whyte, W., and K. Whyte. 1991. *Making Mondragon: The Growth and Dynamics of the Worker Cooperative Complex.* 2d ed. Ithaca, NY: ILR Press.
- Winnipeg Social Purchasing Portal. 2004. Retrieved 10 December 2008 from www.sppwinnipeg.org/
- Zamagni, V. 2000. "Evolution of the Economy." In *Italy after the Second World War*, ed. P. McCarthy. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- ———. 2006. "Italy's Cooperatives from Marginality to Success." Paper presented at XIV International Economic History Congress, Helsinki, Finland, 21–25 August 2006. Retrieved 5 December 2007 from www.helsinki.fi/iehc2006/papers2/Zamagni.pdf

LIST OF CENTRE PUBLICATIONS

Occasional Papers Series

(Occasional papers are 8 1/2 x 11 format)

- 2009 Financing Aboriginal Enterprise Development: The Potential of Using Co-operative Models. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (104pp. \$15)
- 2008 The Agriculture of the Middle Initiative: Premobilizing Considerations and Formal Co-operative Structure. Thomas W. Gray (54pp. \$12)
- 2007 Social Cohesion through Market Democratization: Alleviating Legitimation Deficits through Co-operation. Rob Dobrohoczki (68pp. \$10)
- Data Collection in the Co-operative Sector and Other Business Statistics in Canada and the United States. Angela Wagner and Cristine de Clercy (224pp. \$25)
- The Case of the Saint-Camille Care and Services Solidarity Co-operative and Its Impact on Social Cohesion. Geneviève Langlois, with the collaboration of Patrick De Bortoli and under the guidance of Jean-Pierre Girard and Benoît Lévesque (96pp. \$10)
- "Canada's Co-operative Province": Individualism and Mutualism in a Settler Society, 1905–2005. Brett Fairbairn (76pp. \$10)
- Negotiating Synergies: A Study in Multiparty Conflict Resolution. Marj Benson (408pp. \$35)
- 2003 Co-operatives and Farmers in the New Agriculture. Murray Fulton and Kim Sanderson (60pp. \$10)
- 2002 Conflict, Co-operation, and Culture: A Study in Multiparty Negotiations. Marj Benson (242pp. \$25)
- 2002 Adult Educators in Co-operative Development: Agents of Change. Brenda Stefanson (102pp. \$12)
- 2001 "An Educational Institute of Untold Value": The Evolution of the Co-operative College of Canada, 1953–1987. Jodi Crewe (66pp. \$10)
- 1999 The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet. Byron Henderson (78pp. \$12)

- 1998 Co-operative Organization in Rural Canada and the Agricultural Co-operative Movement in China: A Comparison. Zhu Shufang and Leonard P. Apedaile (56pp. \$10)
- 1996 Comparative Financial Performance Analysis of Canadian Co-operatives, Investor-Owned Firms, and Industry Norms. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (152pp. \$12)
- 1994 Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires: Background, Market Characteristics, and Future Development. J.T. Zinger (26pp. \$6)
- 1994 The Meaning of Rochdale: The Rochdale Pioneers and the Co-operative Principles. Brett Fairbairn (62pp. \$10)
- 1993 The Co-operative Movement: An International View. S.K. Saxena (20pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operatives in Principle and Practice. Anne McGillivray and Daniel Ish (144pp. \$10)
- 1992 Matador: The Co-operative Farming Tradition. George Melnyk (26pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operative Development: Towards a Social Movement Perspective. Patrick Develtere (114pp. \$15)
- 1991 *The Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: A Statistical Overview.* Louise Simbandumwe, Murray Fulton, and Lou Hammond Ketilson (54pp. \$6)
- 1991 Farmers, Capital, and the State in Germany, c 1860–1914. Brett Fairbairn (36pp. \$6)
- 1990 Community-Based Models of Health Care: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Michael Quennell (66pp. \$8)
- 1989 Patronage Allocation, Growth, and Member Well-Being in Co-operatives. Jeff Corman and Murray Fulton (48pp. \$8)
- 1989 The Future of Worker Co-operatives in Hostile Environments: Some Reflections from Down Under. Allan Halladay and Colin Peile (94pp. \$6)
- Worker Co-operatives and Worker Ownership: Issues Affecting the Development of Worker Co-operatives in Canada. Christopher Axworthy and David Perry (100pp. \$10)
- 1988 A History of Saskatchewan Co-operative Law 1900 to 1960. Donald Mullord, Christopher Axworthy, and David Liston (66pp. \$8)
- 1988 Co-operative Organizations in Western Canada. Murray Fulton (40pp. \$7)
- 1988 Farm Interest Groups and Canadian Agricultural Policy. Barry Wilson, David Laycock, and Murray Fulton (42pp. \$8)
- 1987 Election of Directors in Saskatchewan Co-operatives: Processes and Results. Lars Apland (72pp. \$6)
- 1987 The Property of the Common: Justifying Co-operative Activity. Finn Aage Ekelund (74pp. \$6)
- 1987 Co-operative/Government Relations in Canada: Lobbying, Public Policy Development and the Changing Co-operative System. David Laycock (246pp. \$10)

- 1987 The Management of Co-operatives: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Bonnie Korthuis, and Colin Boyd (144pp. \$10)
- 1987 Labour Relations in Co-operatives. Kurt Wetzel and Daniel G. Gallagher (30pp. \$6)
- Worker Co-operatives: An International Bibliography/ Coopératives de Travailleurs: Une Bibliographie Internationale. Rolland LeBrasseur, Alain Bridault, David Gallingham, Gérard Lafrenière, and Terence Zinger (76pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Their Employees: Towards a Harmonious Relationship. Christopher Axworthy (82pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Social Democracy: Elements of the Norwegian Case. Finn Aage Ekelund (42pp. \$6)
- 1986 Encouraging Democracy in Consumer and Producer Co-operatives. Stuart Bailey (124pp. \$10)
- 1986 A New Model for Producer Co-operatives in Israel. Abraham Daniel (54pp. \$6)
- 1985 Worker Co-operatives in Mondragon, the U.K., and France: Some Reflections. Christopher Axworthy (48pp. \$10)
- 1985 Employment Co-operatives: An Investment in Innovation: Proceedings of the Saskatoon Worker Co-operative Conference. Skip McCarthy, ed. (288pp. \$23)
- 1985 Prairie Populists and the Idea of Co-operation, 1910–1945. David Laycock (48pp. \$6)

Books, Research Reports, and Other Publications

- 2009 Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development: A Comparative Experience. Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Isobel M. Findlay, Julia Bidonde Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2009 Culture, Creativity, and the Arts: Achieving Community Resilience and Sustainability through the Arts in Sault Ste. Marie. Jude Ortiz and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 133pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2009 The Importance of Policy for Community Economic Development: A Case Study of the Manitoba Context. Brendan Reimer, Dan Simpson, Jesse Hajer, John Loxley (8 1/2 x 11, 47pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2009 Northern Ontario Women's Economic Development Conference Report. PARO Centre for Women's Enterprise (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)

- 2008 Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy. Cara Spence and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database.* Karen Lynch, Cara Spence, and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 22pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Social Enterprises and the Ontario Disability Support Program: A Policy Perspective on Employing Persons with Disabilities. Gayle Broad and Madison Saunders (8 1/2 x 11, 41pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Karen Lynch and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Community Supported Agriculture: Putting the "Culture" Back into Agriculture.

 Miranda Mayhew, Cecilia Fernandez, and Lee-Ann Chevrette (8 1/2 x 11, 10pp.,

 Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Algoma Central Railway: Wilderness Tourism by Rail Opportunity Study. Prepared by Malone Given Parsons Ltd. for the Coalition for Algoma Passenger Trains (8 1/2 x 11, 82pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Recovery of the Collective Memory and Projection into the Future: ASOPRICOR. Jose Reyes, Janeth Valero, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Measuring and Mapping the Impact of Social Economy Enterprises: The Role of Co-ops in Community Population Growth. Chipo Kangayi, Rose Olfert, and Mark Partridge (8 1/2 x 11, 42pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: An Enterprise Perspective. Wanda Wuttunee, Martin Chicilo, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: A Scan of Financing Providers in the Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Northwestern Ontario Region. Wanda Wuttunee, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 39pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba. John Loxley and Dan Simpson (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2008 Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods. Mitch Diamantopoulos and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Reports Series, available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)

- 2008 Between Solidarity and Profit: The Agricultural Transformation Societies in Spain (1940–2000). Cándido Román Cervantes (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership: Issues and Challenges. Bill Turner (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Innovations in Co-operative Marketing and Communications. Leslie Brown (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cognitive Processes and Co-operative Business Strategy. Murray Fulton and Julie Gibbings (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Heritage: Where We've Come From. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 18pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership as a Complex and Dynamic Social Process. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 28pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cohesion, Adhesion, and Identities in Co-operatives. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2006 Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles: Do They Act to Include or Exclude? Lou Hammond Ketilson (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Social Responsibility: A Natural Advantage? Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2006 Globalization and Co-operatives. William Coleman (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 2006 Leadership and Representational Diversity. Cristine de Clercy (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- Synergy and Strategic Advantage: Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy, synthesis report of a conference held in Ottawa, March 2006, sponsored by the Centre; PRI, Government of Canada; SSHRC; Human Resources and Social Development Canada; and the Co-operatives Secretariat (English and French, 8 1/2 x 11, 14pp., free)
- 2006 Farmers' Association Training Materials (part of the China-Canada Agriculture Development Program prepared for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and the Canadian International Development Agency). Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 134pp., available on our website)
- 2006 International Seminar on Legislation for Farmer Co-operatives in China: A Canadian Perspective. Daniel Ish, Bill Turner, and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 22pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Networking Diversity: Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Cooperatives. Myfanwy Van Vliet (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., Research Reports Series, available on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2004 Living the Dream: Membership and Marketing in the Co-operative Retailing System.
 Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 288pp. \$20)
- Building a Dream: The Co-operative Retailing System in Western Canada, 1928–1988 (reprint). Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 352pp. \$20)

- 2004 Cohesion, Consumerism, and Co-operatives: Looking ahead for the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2004 Co-operative Membership and Globalization: New Directions in Research and Practice. Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 320pp. \$20)
- 2003 Beyond Beef and Barley: Organizational Innovation and Social Factors in Farm Diversification and Sustainability. Michael Gertler, JoAnn Jaffe, and Lenore Swystun (8 1/2 x 11, 118pp., Research Reports Series, \$12)
- 2003 The Role of Social Cohesion in the Adoption of Innovation and Selection of Organizational Form. Roger Herman (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Reports Series, available on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 38pp. \$5)
- 2003 The Role of Farmers in the Future Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2003 Is It the End of Utopia? The Israeli Kibbutz at the Twenty-First Century. Uriel Leviatan (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2003 Up a Creek with a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom. Ann Hoyt (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2002 A Report on Aboriginal Co-operatives in Canada: Current Situation and Potential for Growth. L. Hammond Ketilson and I. MacPherson (8 1/2 x 11, 400pp. \$35)
- Against All Odds: Explaining the Exporting Success of the Danish Pork Co-operatives. Jill Hobbs (6 x 9, 40pp. \$5)
- 2001 Rural Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2001 NGCs: Resource Materials for Business Development Professionals and Agricultural Producers. (binder, 8 1/2 x 11, 104pp. \$17)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operative Development in Canada. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Key Steps in the Issuance of Securities / The Secondary Trade. Brenda Stefanson, Ian McIntosh, Dean Murrison (6 x 9, 34pp. \$5)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operatives and the Law in Saskatchewan. Chad Haaf and Brenda Stefanson (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2001 An Economic Impact Analysis of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: Update 1998. Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp. available on our website in downloadable pdf format as well as on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis. Two volumes. Vol. I, pt. 1: Summary, Observations, and Conclusions about Co-operative Development; vol. I, pt. 2: Issues in Co-operative Development and Co-operative—State Relations, Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 66pp. \$8); vol. II, pt. 3: Co-operative Development and Sector—State Relations in the U.S.A., Brett Fairbairn and Laureen Gatin; vol. II, pt. 4: A Study of Co-operative Development and Government—Sector Relations in Australia, Garry Cronan and Jayo Wickremarachchi (6 x 9, 230pp. \$12)

- 2000 Interdisciplinarity and the Transformation of the University. Brett Fairbairn and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 *The CUMA Farm Machinery Co-operatives.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 46pp. \$5)
- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives in Saskatchewan and Québec. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- Farm Machinery Co-operatives: An Idea Worth Sharing. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 Canadian Co-operatives in the Year 2000: Memory, Mutual Aid, and the Millennium. Brett Fairbairn, Ian MacPherson, and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 356pp. \$22)
- 1999 Networking for Success: Strategic Alliances in the New Agriculture. Mona Holmlund and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 1999 Prairie Connections and Reflections: The History, Present, and Future of Co-operative Education. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 1999 *The SANASA Model: Co-operative Development through Micro-Finance.* Ingrid Fischer, Lloyd Hardy, Daniel Ish, and Ian MacPherson (6 x 9, 80pp. \$10)
- 1999 A Car-Sharing Co-operative in Winnipeg: Recommendations and Alternatives. David Leland (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- Working Together: The Role of External Agents in the Development of Agriculture-Based Industries. Andrea Harris, Murray Fulton, Brenda Stefanson, and Don Lysyshyn (8 1/2 x 11, 184pp. \$12)
- 1998 The Social and Economic Importance of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Michael Gertler, Murray Fulton, Roy Dobson, and Leslie Polsom (8 1/2 x 11, 244 pp. free)
- 1998 Proceedings of the Women in Co-operatives Forum, 7–8 November 1997, Moose Jaw, SK (8 1/2 x 11, 112pp. \$12)
- 1997 A Discussion Paper on Canadian Wheat Board Governance. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Balancing Act: Crown Corporations in a Successful Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *A Conversation about Community Development.* Centre for the Study of Cooperatives (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *Credit Unions and Community Economic Development.* Brett Fairbairn, Lou Hammond Ketilson, and Peter Krebs (6 x 9, 32pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Responding to Changes in Agriculture. Brenda Stefanson and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)

- 1996 Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives. Daniel Ish and Kathleen Ring (6 x 9, 148pp. \$15)
- 1995 Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives. The International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (5 1/2 x 8 1/2, 356pp. \$22)
- 1995 New Generation Co-operatives: Rebuilding Rural Economies. Brenda Stefanson, Murray Fulton, and Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 1994 Research for Action: Women in Co-operatives. Leona Theis and Lou Hammond Ketilson (8 1/2 x 11, 98pp. \$12)

To order a hard copy, please contact: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966–8509 / Fax: (306) 966–8517 E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca

Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop

All our publications are also available on our website at http://www.usaskstudies.coop/publications/electronic_format/

Regional Partner Organizations



Centre for the Study of Co-operatives



Community-University Institute for Social Research



Community Economic and Social Development Unit Algoma University College



Institute of Urban Studies University of Winnipeg

Project Funding



Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada

Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada